

By-Laws

Revised October 26, 2020

ARTICLE I – PURPOSES

Section 1. The purposes of the Club shall be:

1. To own or lease and maintain one or more aircraft for the use of members of the Club.
2. To acquire, own, hold, lease, sell, pledge, mortgage, or otherwise dispose of any property, real or personal, necessary to the operation of the Club.
3. To promote and encourage flying by its members and to lower flying costs for them.
4. To promote club training programs for its members in order to enable them to maintain their flying proficiency.
5. To encourage people to become interested in flying.
6. To acquire, preserve, and distribute educational material of value to its members.

ARTICLE II – MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Section 1. Place of Meetings

All meetings of the members, except as herein otherwise provided, shall be held at a time, place, and manner to be determined by the President with the approval of the Board of Trustees.

Section 2. Annual Meetings.

The Annual Meeting of the Club shall be held during the first week in December at such time, place and manner as determined by the President with the approval of the Board of Trustees. At such meeting, the members shall elect a Board of Trustees as constituted by these By-Laws, and transact such other business as may come before the meeting.

Section 3. Special Meetings.

Special meetings of the members may be held at such time, place and manner as the President may determine, or as may be called by a majority of the Board of Trustees or by written petition of 20 percent or more of the total members of the Club in good standing.

Section 4. Notice of Meetings.

Regular monthly meetings of the Club may be held without notice once the time, place, and manner for such meetings has been established by the Board of Trustees by giving the same notice as required for a special meeting. If the time, place, or manner for regularly scheduled meetings shall change, the same notice as for a special meeting shall be given to Club members. Written notice of any special meeting shall be given, either personally, by mail, or by email, to each member entitled to vote at the meeting at his last known place of business or residence at least 10 but not more than 60 days before the date of the special meeting.

Section 5. Quorum.

At any meeting of the members, a quorum shall consist of the lesser of one-third of the members or 10 members.

Section 6. Conduct of Meetings.

The President, or in his absence, the Vice-President, or in the absence of the President and Vice-President, the

Secretary, or in the absence of the President and Vice-President and Secretary, the Treasurer, shall call the meeting of the members to order and shall act as the presiding officer thereof, provided, however, that the duty of presiding officer may be delegated to any member of the Board of Trustees.

Section 7. Voting.

At every meeting of the members, each member shall have one vote. Unless otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation of the Club or specified by these By-Laws, a majority vote of the members present and voting is necessary for any action. Such votes may be cast in person or by proxy; provided, however, that a proxy shall be valid only for the meeting and action to be considered at such meeting for which such proxy is given as specified thereon. The Board of Trustees, in its discretion, or the officer of the Club presiding at any meeting of the Club, in his or her discretion, may require, and any member shall have the right to require, in any vote for election of Trustees, that any votes cast at such meeting shall be cast by written ballot provided such demand is made prior to the commencement of the meeting at which such vote is to be taken.

ARTICLE III – TRUSTEES

Section 1. Authority

The business, property and activities of the Club shall be exercised, conducted and controlled in conformity with these By-Laws by a Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall have the power and authority to promulgate and enforce rules and regulations pertaining to the use and operation of Club aircraft and to do and perform, or cause to be done and performed, any and every act which the Club may lawfully do and perform.

Section 2. Number and Election.

The Board of Trustees shall consist of the President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer of the Club and three (3) additional Trustees or such other number of additional Trustees as set by the Board of Trustees. An aircraft maintenance officer for the Club shall be appointed by the Board of Trustees either from its own membership or from the membership at large, who shall be a non-voting, ex officio member of the Board of Trustees.

Except as provided in Section 3 below, each officer and Trustee shall be elected annually at the Annual Meeting of the members, from the membership of the Club, shall be installed at the Annual Meeting, and shall serve until the next Annual Meeting and until his successor is elected and qualified, or until his earlier resignation or removal. Any officer or Trustee may resign at any time upon notice to the Club.

Section 3. Vacancies.

In case of a vacancy on the Board, the remaining Trustees shall fill such vacancy by appointment from the Club membership; provided, however, that if three or more vacancies exist at any one time, they shall be filled by vote of the members of the Club at a meeting of the Club.

Trustees so chosen shall hold office until the next Annual Meeting and until their successors are duly elected and qualified, or until their earlier resignation or removal.

Section 4. Meetings.

Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees may be held without notice at such time and at such place as well as in such manner as may from time to time be determined by the President. Special meetings of the Board of Trustees

may be called at any time, place, and manner on the order of the President or on the order of any two other Trustees. Notice of a special meeting of the Board of Trustees stating the time, place, and manner and, in general terms, the purpose of the meeting shall be given, if by mail, at least three days before, or if in person or by telephone, not later than the day before, the day appointed for the meeting. If all Trustees shall be present at any meeting any business may be transacted without previous notice unless a Trustee prior to the conclusion of the meeting protests the lack of notice of the meeting. Special meetings of the Board of Trustees may be held without notice at the time of, or immediately following, a membership meeting.

Section 5. Quorum.

Four (4) Trustees shall constitute a quorum of the Board of Trustees for the transaction of business at all meetings and the affirmative vote of a majority of Trustees present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be an act of the Board of Trustees.

Section 6. Actions of Board.

Unless otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Trustees or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all the members of the Board of Trustees or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Trustees or committee. For purposes of these By-Laws, a writing shall include any form of electronic communication approved by the Board of Trustees.

Section 7. Record of Proceedings.

The Board of Trustees shall cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and proceedings of its meetings and present a full statement at the regular meetings of the members.

Section 8. Committees.

The Board of Trustees may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the trustees of the Club. Any committee, to the extent allowed by law and provided in the resolution establishing such committee, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Trustees in the management of the business and affairs of the Club. Each committee shall keep regular minutes and report to the Board of Trustees when required. The Board of Trustees or the President may also establish Club committees which may contain members who are not members of the Board of Trustees provided that such committees do not exercise powers that are those of the Board of Trustees alone.

ARTICLE IV – OFFICERS

Section 1. General.

The officers of the Club to be elected by the members of the Club at the Annual Meeting shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary and a Treasurer. Each officer of the Club elected at an Annual Meeting shall hold office until the next Annual Meeting and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified, or until earlier resignation or removal. Any officer elected by the Club members may only be removed, with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Club in good standing, but the authority of an officer to act as such may be

suspended by the Board of Trustees for cause. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Club shall be filled by the Board of Trustees. Any officer may resign at any time.

Section 2. President.

The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Club and shall preside at all meetings of the Club and the Board of Trustees. The President shall have general supervision of the business and activities of the Club and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Trustees are carried into effect. The President shall execute with the Secretary in the name of the Club all contracts and other instruments of the Club which have been first approved by the Board of Trustees, provided that the other officers of the Club may sign and execute documents when so authorized by these By-Laws, the Board of Trustees or the President. The President shall be responsible to the Board of Trustees for the operation of the Club. Unless otherwise directed by the Board, the President shall make and enforce decisions regarding the suitability of all equipment and operation and he shall recommend for approval to the Board of Trustees all operational rules of the Club and report with recommendations all violations of such rules by any member of the Club. The President shall also perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as from time to time may be assigned to him by these By-Laws or by the Board of Trustees.

Section 3. Vice President.

At the request of the President or in his or her absence or in the event of his or her inability or refusal to act, the Vice-President shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. Each Vice-President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Trustees from time to time may prescribe.

Section 4. Secretary.

The Secretary shall attend all general meetings and meetings of the Board of Trustees and shall perform all duties incident to the office of the Secretary, subject to the control of the Board of Trustees. The Secretary shall keep a proper membership book showing the name and address of each member of the Club, the By-Laws of the Club, the Club seal, and such other books and papers that the Board of Trustees may direct and shall see that all books, reports, statements, certificates and other documents or records required by law to be kept or filed are properly kept or filed, as the case may be. The Secretary shall execute, with the President, in the name of the Club, all documents and instruments which have been first approved by the Board of Trustees. The Secretary, in case of the absence, disability or unwillingness to serve of the President and Vice-President, shall be vested with all the powers and shall perform the duties of the President.

Section 5. Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall have the custody of the Club's funds and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Club and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Club in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Trustees. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Club as may be ordered by the Board of Trustees, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President and the Board of Trustees, at its regular meetings, or when the President or Board of Trustees so requires, an account of all transactions made as Treasurer and of the financial

condition of the Club. The Treasurer shall perform all other duties incident to the office of the Treasurer, subject to the control of the Board of Trustees.

Section 6. Aircraft Maintenance Officer.

The Aircraft Maintenance Officer shall be responsible for all papers required to be carried in Club aircraft, including the maintenance of current information in the logbooks of each Club aircraft and for the execution of all papers required upon the completion of inspections and major repairs. The Aircraft Maintenance Officer also shall be responsible for maintaining Club aircraft in proper operating condition, by or under the supervision of a properly certificated aircraft and engine mechanic, and for obtaining all checks, inspections, major overhauls and compliance with all service bulletins for such aircraft.

Section 7. Other Officers.

The Club may have such other officers, including one or more Chief Pilots, Safety Officers and Scheduling Officers, as the Board of Trustees may choose, who shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be assigned to them by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees may delegate to the President of the Club the power to choose such other officers and to prescribe their respective duties and powers.

ARTICLE V – SAFETY BOARD; INCIDENTS AND ACCIDENTS

Section 1. Composition; Duties.

The President, with the consent of the Board of Trustees, shall appoint when needed a Safety Board consisting of three members, one of whom will be the Club's Chief Pilot, and who shall serve for the term of one year and until their successors are appointed or until their earlier removal or resignation. The Safety Board shall have the responsibility for promoting flying safety and related subjects and shall investigate promptly each aircraft incident or accident involving either a member of the Club or any equipment belonging to the Club. If one or more members of the Safety Board are involved in an incident or accident, an alternate or alternates shall be appointed by the President to investigate the incident or accident.

Section 2. Grounding.

The President and any one member of the Safety Board together may ground any member from flying any Club aircraft following any incident or accident until the Safety Board has completed its investigation and report and the Board of Trustees has acted thereon.

Section 3. Investigations and Reports.

The Safety Board shall take all steps necessary to ascertain the facts, conditions, and circumstances of the incident or accident, shall determine the probable cause and the responsibility for said accident and shall deliver to the Board of Trustees and to all members involved in the accident its findings in the form of a written report.

Section 4. Hearing; Determination.

The Board of Trustees, upon receipt of the findings of the Safety Board, shall offer to the member(s) involved in the incident or accident the opportunity of a prompt hearing. After the hearing, or if such hearing is waived by all members involved in the incident or accident, the Board of Trustees shall determine what action, if any, shall be taken against the members involved, which may include one or more of the following: (i) removal from the Club, (ii)

grounding for a specified period of time, (iii) completion of a specified training program or checkride, (iv) assessment for damages sustained by Club aircraft or to other property as provided in Section 5 below.

Section 5. Financial Responsibility.

In the event of an accident or incident for which any member is deemed responsible for damage to Club aircraft or other property, the member's liability shall be limited to either (i) \$2,500.00, if no insurance claim is made by the Club, or (ii) any deductible amount under the insurance policy for such aircraft, if an insurance claim is made by the Club for such accident or incident. Additionally, such member shall also be responsible for the return of the aircraft to its home base. Notwithstanding the first sentence of this Section, in the event of any accident, incident, or other situation occurring in which the member followed the Club's operating rules or procedures, the Federal Aviation Regulations, and was not grossly negligent as determined by the Board of Trustees, the member's liability to the Club shall be limited and the Board of Trustees may not impose any liability on such member exceeding \$5,000; however, if the accident or incident occurs as a result of violation of Club operating rules or procedures, the Federal Aviation Regulations, or gross negligence as determined by the Board of Trustees, the member may then be assessed the full or any portion of the unrecovered costs to the Club from such accident or incident regardless of whether any insurance claim is made by the Club for such accident or incident. The Board of Trustees shall determine in its discretion whether to file an insurance claim for any accident or incident. All financial obligations imposed on any member as a result of the decision of the Board of Trustees shall be due within 30 days of written notice thereof.

ARTICLE VI – MEMBERSHIP AND CHARGES

Section 1. Application and Entry.

All prospective members of the Club shall first be interviewed by the Board of Trustees, or its designees, to determine their flying qualifications and compatibility with the other members of the Club. The Board of Trustees shall vote on the admission of prospective members and offers of membership shall be granted upon majority vote of the Board of Trustees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board of Trustees may determine to limit the number of members in the Club in order to ensure proper availability of Club aircraft to present Club members.

Section 2. Equity.

A person duly elected to the Club as hereinbefore stated shall become a Club member only upon payment of the initial membership amount ("equity") currently required for membership as determined from time to time by the Board of Trustees. Upon withdrawal from Club membership, a member shall receive no more than that amount of equity that he has contributed to the Club. In the event of the dissolution of the Club or any liquidation of its assets, this equity will be subordinated in right of payment to any promissory notes including any promissory notes to club members.

Section 3. Probation Period.

Notwithstanding Section 5 below, during the first year (365 days) of Club membership, each new member shall be subject to removal by the Board of Trustees for just cause.

Section 4. Withdrawal.

A member wishing to withdraw from the Club shall notify the Secretary of such intention and such withdrawal shall be effective upon the Club's return of the member's equity in the Club to such member, which shall occur within seven

(7) days of the payment of equity to the Club by a new prospective member who is accepted for membership in the Club. Until such time that equity is returned, members shall enjoy all rights, privileges, and obligations of membership; including, but not limited to, payment of monthly dues and assessments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board of Trustees, in its sole discretion, in extraordinary circumstances, may return a withdrawing member's equity in the Club prior to there being a replacement for the withdrawing member if such return of equity does not jeopardize the financial condition of the Club. Requests for withdrawal from the Club will be acted on in the order submitted to the Secretary; provided, however, that a member providing a replacement member shall have precedent over those seeking withdrawal who are not so providing a replacement.

Section 5. Expulsion.

A member may be expelled by a majority vote of the members present at any regular or special meeting of the members, provided notice of intention to seek such expulsion is given in writing to all members at least 10 days before such meeting. The member affected shall have the right to be heard either in person or by counsel. A member dropped or expelled from membership shall nevertheless be obligated to the Club for any sums owed, and these may be collected by suit in any court of proper jurisdiction. Such member's equity shall be credited to him, and if in excess of any obligations owed the Club, the balance shall be paid in accordance with the provisions of Section 2 hereof.

Section 6. Charges.

Each member shall be assessed monthly fixed charges in an amount to be fixed by the Board of Trustees which shall also fix charges for flying time. Fixed charges and charges for flying time shall be payable within 15 days after billing. Any member, who has failed to pay any sums due the Club within 60 days after said sums shall be due, may be suspended from flying Club aircraft by the Club Treasurer and shall be considered a member not in good standing while such suspension is in effect. If a member fails to pay any sum owed to the Club within 60 days after the date due, a finance charge of 1.5% per month may be assessed. In addition, the board may drop the member from membership and his equity disposed of in accordance with Section 2 and 5 hereof. Additionally, the Board of Trustees shall have the right to authorize additional late fees as it deems necessary.

Section 7. Operating Rules and Regulations.

Each member shall comply with such operating rules and regulations as are established from time to time by the Board of Trustees which shall govern the use of Club aircraft.

Section 8. Alumni/Alumnae Members.

Members of the Club who have withdrawn from Club membership but wish to remain affiliated with the Club may request the Board of Trustees to be considered alumni/alumnae members of the Club. Such members may attend Club meetings but shall have no vote and shall not be allowed to be pilot in command of Club aircraft.

ARTICLE VII – FINANCIAL MATTERS

Section 1. Surplus.

Any surplus funds remaining after payment of all liabilities and obligations of the Club shall be used for Club purposes as determined by the Board of Trustees and shall not be distributed to Club members.

Section 2. Compensation.

Unless specifically approved by the Board of Trustees, no Club member or entity affiliated with a Club member shall receive any compensation from the Club for services rendered to the Club.

ARTICLE VIII – AMENDMENTS

Section 1. Repeal, Alteration, etc.

These By-laws may be repealed, altered or amended, in whole or in part, or new By-Laws adopted by a majority vote of all members entitled to vote thereon.

ARTICLE IX – INDEMNIFICATION

Section 1.

The Corporation may, to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by and in accordance with the standards and procedures provided for by Section 15A:3-4 of the New Jersey Non-Profit Corporation Act and any amendments thereto, indemnify any person (including such person's estate), made, or threatened to be made, a party to any action or proceeding by reason of the fact that the person was a trustee, officer or agent of the Corporation, against any judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement and reasonable costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees incurred by such person.